

#### **Ormiston Academies Trust**

# Ormiston Bolingbroke Academy

# Attendance policy

(incl. Children with health needs who cannot attend school, CME and EHE)

#### Policy version control

| Policy type                 | Statutory elements, template is OAT mandatory  |  |
|-----------------------------|--|--|
| Author In consultation with | Nikki Cameron – Safeguarding Manager  Steph Morley – Deputy Safeguarding Manager (attendance and behaviour)                        |  |
| Approved by                 | OAT Executive, December 2021   |  |
| Trust Board approval        | December 2021  |  |
| Release date                | December 2021  |  |
| Next release date           | December 2022  |  |
| Description of changes      | New policy, replaces Supporting Student Attendance, Children Missing Education and Covid-19 Behaviour Addendum.                    |  |
|                             | Note that this policy template is now mandatory for all OAT academies, not strongly recommended as with the previous OAT template. |  |
|                             | Review period has been reduced from three years to annual.   |  |



# **Contents**

| 1. Pc | olicy statement and principles                                    | 4  |
|-------|---|----|
| 2. W  | hy Regular Attendance is important                                | 4  |
| 2.1.  | Safeguarding  |    |
| 2.2.  | Vulnerable children   | 5  |
| 2.3.  | Learning  | 5  |
| 3. Co | ontext  | 5  |
| 3.1.  | The Law Relating to attendance and safeguarding                   | 5  |
| 3.2.  | Compulsory School Age:  | 5  |
| Safeg | guarding  | 6  |
| 3.3.  | Covid 19  | 7  |
| 4. Ro | oles and responsibilities   | 8  |
| 4.1.  | People with responsibility for attendance                         | 8  |
| 4.2.  | Promoting Regular Attendance                                      | 9  |
| 4.3.  | Admission and attendance register                                 | 9  |
| 4.4.  | Family Contact Details  | 10 |
| 5. Th | ne academy day  | 10 |
| 5.2.  | Lateness  | 10 |
| 5.3.  | How we manage lateness  | 10 |
| 6. Ty | pes of Absence  | 10 |
| 6.2.  | Authorised Absences   | 11 |
| 6.3.  | Unauthorised Absences   | 11 |
| 6.4.  | Persistent Absenteeism (PA)                                       | 12 |
| 7. Ab | osence Procedures   | 12 |
| 7.2.  | Safeguarding  | 13 |
| 7.3.  | Leave in Term Time  | 13 |
| 7.4.  | Appointments  | 14 |
| 7.5.  | Religious or cultural observance                                  | 15 |
| 8. Ch | nildren Missing Education (CME)                                   | 15 |
| 8.11. | Safeguarding  | 16 |
| 8.12. | Missing children/runaways:  | 16 |
| 8.13. | Children and young people supervised by the Youth Justice System: | 16 |
| 8.14. | Children of migrant families/unaccompanied minors:                | 16 |
| 8.15. | Children of service personnel:                                    | 17 |
| 8.16. | Children of gypsy, Roma and traveller (GRT) families:             | 17 |
| 8.17. | Fixed Term and Permanent Exclusions                               | 17 |



| 9. Elective Home Education (EHE)                        | 18 |
|---|----|
| 9.7. Decision to home educate                           | 18 |
| 10. Children with health needs who cannot attend school | 19 |
| 11. Alternative Provision                               | 20 |
| 11.10. Part-time timetables                             | 21 |
| 12. Support and Intervention                            | 21 |
| 12.7. School Targets and Initiatives                    | 22 |
| 13. Rewards   | 22 |
| 14. Attendance Codes                                    | 23 |
| Appendix 1  | 24 |
| EXEMPLAR First absence warning letter template          | 24 |
| Appendix 2  | 25 |
| EXEMPLAR Low attendance concerns letter template        | 25 |
| Appendix 3  | 26 |
| EXEMPLAR Unauthorised absence letter template           | 26 |
| Appendix 4  | 27 |
| Learning from serious case reviews                      | 27 |



## 1. Policy statement and principles

- 1.1. All academy staff are committed to working with parents and children as the best way to ensure high levels of attendance are achieved and that every child's welfare and life opportunities are promoted.
- 1.2. At Ormiston Bolingbroke Academy we aim for an environment which enables and encourages children to enjoy and excel in their education
- 1.3. Regular and punctual attendance is essential for effective learning and children should be at the academy, on time, every day it is open unless the reason for the absence is unavoidable.
- 1.4. Missing out on lessons leaves children vulnerable to falling behind and has safeguarding implications.
- 1.5. Children with poor attendance tend to achieve less in both primary and secondary age groups
- 1.6. The academy will work with the community and partner agencies to:
- Promote good attendance and reduce absence, including persistent absence
- Ensure every child has access to the full-time education to which they are entitled
- Act early to address patterns of absence.

## 2. Why Regular Attendance is important

#### 2.1. Safeguarding

- 2.1.1. Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children is everyone's responsibility and is the number one priority for Ormiston Academies Trust.
- 2.1.2.Difficulties with attendance and lateness may be signs that something is worrying a child and they and/or their family are in need of early help and support.
- 2.1.3.Lack of, or erratic attendance, persistent absence or children missing education are safeguarding issues and must act as a warning sign to a range of concerns including neglect, sexual abuse, child sexual or child criminal exploitation. They may also be an indication of peer -on -peer abuse including bullying and sexual harassment or significant mental ill health concerns. They must not be seen as purely isolated attendance concerns.
- 2.1.4. Where children have or have had a social worker or are in need of safeguarding support, this will inform decisions about attendance issues.
- 2.1.5. Staff will maintain an attitude of 'it could happen here'.



2.1.6. More information on safeguarding and the protection of children can be found in the academy's Child Protection and Safeguarding Policy.

#### 2.2. Vulnerable children

2.2.1.It is also important for parents/carers/social workers to let the academy know of any specific vulnerability in relation to their child or home circumstances. If you are uncertain about what would be considered a vulnerability, please contact Mrs Zaina Porschke (AP Student Welfare & Attendance)

#### 2.3. Learning

- 2.3.1. We know from experience and from studies that regular absence and poor punctuality can have a detrimental effect on a child's learning. When a child is absent or arrives late it disrupts teaching routines so may affect the learning not only of that child but also that of others in the same class.
- 2.3.2.Ensuring a child's regular attendance at the academy is a parent/carers legal responsibility and permitting absence from the academy without a good reason constitutes an offence in law and may result in a penalty notice or prosecution.

## 3.Context

#### 3.1. The Law Relating to attendance and safeguarding

3.1.1. Section 7 of the Education Act 1996 states that:

"the parent of every child of compulsory school age shall cause him/her to receive efficient full time education suitable:

- (a) to age, ability and aptitude and
- (b) to any special educational needs he/she may have

either at school or otherwise"

#### 3.2. Compulsory School Age:

- 3.2.1.A child must start full-time education once they reach compulsory school age. This is on 31 December, 31 March or 31 August following their fifth birthday whichever comes first.
- 3.2.2.A child can leave school on the last Friday in June if they will be 16 by the end of the summer holidays. (see attendance coding guide in 'School attendance Guidance for maintained schools, academies, independent schools and local authorities')
- 3.2.3. They must then do one of the following until they're 18:



- stay in full-time education, for example at a college
- start an apprenticeship or traineeship
- spend 20 hours or more a week working or volunteering, while in part-time education or training

#### Safeguarding

3.2.4.Section 175 of the Education Act 2002 places a duty on local authorities and governing bodies to have regard to guidance issued by the Secretary of State with regard to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and students under the age of 18.

#### Other relevant guidance/advice

- Keeping Children Safe in Education Sept 2021- statutory guidance for schools <u>Keeping children</u> <u>safe in education 2021 (publishing.service.gov.uk)</u>
- Working together to safeguard children statutory guidance for safeguarding partners <u>Working</u>
   Together to Safeguard Children 2018 (publishing.service.gov.uk)
- The Education (Pupil Registration) (England) Regulations 2006 (legislation.gov.uk)
- School attendance main guidance Aug 2020 <u>School attendance guidance</u> (publishing.service.gov.uk)
- School attendance Covid addendum ongoing updating by DfE check website for latest version Addendum: recording attendance in relation to coronavirus (COVID-19) during the 2021 to 2022 academic year - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
- Looked After Children <u>Promoting the education of looked-after children and previously looked-after</u> children (publishing.service.gov.uk)
- Ensuring a good education for children who cannot attend school because of health needs
   Statutory guidance for local authorities January 2013 <u>Additional health needs guidance</u>
   (publishing.service.gov.uk)
- Children Missing Education Statutory Guidance for Local Authorities Sept 2016 <u>Stat guidance</u> template (publishing.service.gov.uk)
- Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Children Gypsy, Roma and Traveller pupils: supporting access to education - Case study - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
- General information and advice for academies can also be found in the Government's publication
   Missing Children and Adults A cross government strategy (publishing.service.gov.uk)



- Statutory Guidance on Children who run away or go missing from home or care <u>Statutory guidance</u> on children who run away or go missing from home or care (publishing.service.gov.uk)
- Child sexual exploitation: Definition and a guide for practitioners, local leaders and decision makers working to protect children from child sexual exploitation <u>Department for Education</u> (publishing.service.gov.uk)
- NSPCC Protecting children from sexual exploitation | NSPCC Learning
- Elective home education guidance for local authorities April 2019 <u>Elective home education</u>: departmental guidance for local authorities (publishing.service.gov.uk)
- Elective home education a guide for parents April 2019 <u>Elective home education: guide for parents (publishing.service.gov.uk)</u>
- Alternative Provision Statutory guidance for local authorities Jan 2013 <u>Alternative Provision</u> statutory guidance for loval authorities (publishing.service.gov.uk)
- Halton School Attendance Protocols (including Gypsy Roma and Traveller attendance )<u>School</u> attendance (halton.gov.uk)
- Halton Children & Young People Safeguarding Partnership <u>HALTON CHILDREN AND YOUNG</u> <u>PEOPLE SAFEGUARDING PARTNERSHIP | Halton Children & Young People SAFEGUARDING</u> PARTNERSHIP (haltonsafeguarding.co.uk)
- Halton Children's Social Care Contact Centre
   0151 907 8305 (Office Hours Mon-Thurs, 9am 5pm, 9am 4.30pm Fri)
   0345 050 0148 (Outside Office Hours and throughout Weekends)
   Cheshire Police 101 (non-emergency) 999 (emergency)

#### Related academy policies

- Child Protection and Safeguarding
- Admissions
- Exclusion
- Anti-bullying
- Behaviour for learning
- Supporting Children with Medical Needs
- Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND)

#### 3.3. Covid 19

3.3.1.Government advice is constantly being updated. The academy will follow all local and national government advice and guidance and adapt procedures as required.



# 4. Roles and responsibilities

## 4.1. People with responsibility for attendance

| Role   | Name  | Contact details                           |
|--|---|---|
| Principal  | Kathryn Evans   | k.evans@ob-ac.co.uk<br>01928 711 643      |
| Academy Attendance Lead  | Zaina Porschke  | z.porschke@ob-ac.co.uk<br>01928 711 643   |
| Academy Attendance Officer   | Rachel Campbell Sarah Richardson Rachel Oram            | attendance@ob-ac.co.uk<br>01928 711 643   |
| Designated Safeguarding Lead   | Zaina Porschke  | z.porschke@ob-ac.co.uk<br>01928 711 643   |
| Academy SENCo  | Sheryl Moneypenny                                       | s.moneypenny@ob-ac.co.uk<br>01928 711 643 |
| Academy LAC Coordinator  | Zaina Porschke  | z.porschke@ob-ac.co.uk<br>01928 711 643   |
| Local authority named officer for the education of children with additional health needs | David Purcell   | D.Purcell@halton.gov.uk                   |
| Local authority named officer for SEND   | Adrian Leach  | Adrian.leach@halton.gov.uk                |
| Local authority named officer for elective home education                                | Julia Calcasola   | Julia.calcasola@halton.gov.uk             |
| Other LA contacts  | Paula Robins – Education<br>Welfare Officer             | paula.robins@halton.gov.uk                |
|  | Julie Whitehead – Children<br>Missing in Education lead | Julie.whitehead@halton.gov.uk             |



#### 4.2. Promoting Regular Attendance

- 4.2.1.Helping to create a pattern of regular attendance is everybody's responsibility parents/carers/social workers, children and all members of academy staff.
- 4.2.2.To help us all to focus on this we will:
- Provide parents/carers with details on attendance in academy newsletters and the Academy website
- Report to parents at least half-termly on how their child is performing what their attendance and punctuality rate is and how this relates to their attainment;
- Celebrate good attendance by displaying individual and class achievements;
- Reward good or improving attendance through class competitions, certificates and outings/events;
- Run promotional events when parents, children and staff can work together on raising attendance levels across the school.
- Provide a range of support and interventions to support students whose attendance falls below expected levels

#### 4.3. Admission and attendance register

- 4.3.1.The academy will keep an admission register and attendance register. The contents of which includes:
- All children on roll at the academy
- All children's personal details including full legal name
- At least two, and preferably three, telephone numbers for different trusted adults
- The date of admission (or re-admission)
- Information regarding parents and carers
- Details of the school last attended.
  - 4.3.2. The academy will enter children on the admissions register at the beginning of the first day on which it has been agreed by the academy that the child will start, or the day that the academy has been notified that the child will attend the academy.
  - 4.3.3. The academy will take and submit the attendance register at the start of the first session of each academy day and once during the second session. This will be done within the first 10 minutes.
  - 4.3.4.On each occasion, we will record children's attendance using the national codes. (For details of current national attendance codes see School attendance guidance <a href="School">School</a> attendance guidance (publishing.service.gov.uk)
  - 4.3.5. Children will be marked absent if they were not in the academy during the period when the register is open.



#### 4.4. Family Contact Details

4.4.1.In order to allow us to safeguard children it is important that parents and carers provide the academy with their current contact details and provide at least three other contact numbers of trusted adults in case of emergency.

## 5. The academy day

- 5.1.1.The school day starts at 8:30 am and we expect your child to be in class at that time. They should arrive at the school gate by 8:25am to ensure they are on time to form.
- 5.1.2.Registers are marked by 8:35am and your child will receive a 'late' mark if they are not in by that time.
- 5.1.3.At 9:15 am the registers will be closed. If your child arrives after that time, they will receive an unauthorised absence mark that shows them to be on site but not counted as a present for statistical / legal purposes.
- 5.1.4. Children arriving late to the academy should report to main reception where they will be met by a member of staff. Students who arrive late should sign in on the Academy inventory system.

#### 5.2. Lateness

5.2.1. Poor punctuality is not acceptable. If a child misses the start of the day they can miss work and do not spend time with their class teacher getting vital information / instructions and news for the day. Late arriving children also disrupt lessons. It can also be embarrassing for the child; this can encourage absence.

#### 5.3. How we manage lateness

5.3.1.If your child has a persistent late record, you will be asked to meet with a member of the attendance/pastoral to discuss and seek a resolution to the problem, but you can approach us at any time if you are having problems getting your child to school on time.

## 6. Types of Absence

6.1. Every half-day absence from school has to be classified by the academy (not by the parents), as either **authorised** or **unauthorised**. This is why information about the cause of any absence is always required, preferably in writing.



#### 6.2. Authorised Absences

- 6.2.1.An authorised absence is where the academy has either given permission in advance for the child to be absent or where an explanation offered is accepted as satisfactory justification for absence.
- 6.2.2. Absence may generally be authorised for the following reasons:
- Illness, medical or dental appointments for which the academy has granted leave (appointments should be made outside the academy day where possible)
- Unavoidable cause (which is expected to be an emergency and unavoidable)
- Days of religious or cultural observance for which the academy has granted leave
- Traveller child travelling for the purposes of parents' employment which has been agreed with the academy
- Other exceptional circumstances at the discretion of the principal i.e. funerals, weddings (see section 7.3 below for further information).

#### 6.3. Unauthorised Absences

6.3.1.An unauthorised absence is where either no explanation has been given for the child's absence or where the explanation offered is not considered acceptable by the academy

#### 6.3.2. This includes:

- Parents/carers keeping children from attending the academy unnecessarily or without reason
- Parents / carers keeping children off school to assist with translation
- Absences which have not been properly explained
- Children who arrive at school too late to get a late mark i.e. after registers have closed (see section 5 above for times)
- Shopping, looking after other children or birthdays
- Day trips and holidays in term time which have not been agreed
- Leaving the academy without permission during the school day (truancy)
  - 6.3.3.If an absence is recorded as unauthorised and absence is causing a concern the academy may refer this to the Local Authority's Education Service at any point. (Processes for CME are listed in section 8 below)
  - 6.3.4. The Local Authority can use various sanctions to promote regular attendance such as issuing a Penalty Notice Fine or initiate court proceedings.
  - 6.3.5. Whilst any child may be absent sometimes, it can be that they are reluctant to attend or there are safeguarding concerns



6.3.6. Any problems with regular absence are best sorted out between the academy and the parents/carers and the child.

#### 6.4. Persistent Absenteeism (PA)

- 6.4.1.A child is considered to be a 'persistent absentee' (PA) if they miss 10% or more of their schooling across the school year for **whatever reason**.
- 6.4.2. Any case that is seen to have reached the PA threshold or is at risk of moving towards that level is given priority and you will be informed of this immediately.
- 6.4.3.PA children are tracked and monitored carefully through the attendance team and we also combine this with academic mentoring where absence affects attainment.
- 6.4.4.All our PA children and their parents/carers will be supported through an action plan. The plan may include:
- Allocation of additional support through a mentor/
- Individual incentive programmes
- Participation in group activities around raising attendance
- Attendance reports
- Attendance targets
- Parental/multi agency meetings
- Collaboration with Halton Education Welfare Service
  - 6.4.5.All PA cases are also automatically made known to Zaina Porschke (AP Student Welfare & Attendance) as well as Paula Robins (Halton Education Welfare Service)
  - 6.4.6.If your child has, or is at risk of, reaching the threshold for PA, you will be asked to provide evidence for any future absence. This may be medical evidence for illness which can be in the form of prescriptions, medicine packaging or hospital letters.

## 7. Absence Procedures

#### 7.1. If your child is absent you must:

- Contact us as early as possible and at the latest by 08.00am on the first day of absence and give an expected return date.
- You can contact us via the main Academy phone number: 01928 711643 or via email attendance@ob-ac.co.uk
- Call every day thereafter to advise school of your child's progress.
- Send a note in on the first day they return with an explanation of the absence you must do this
  even if you have already telephoned us;
  - or, you can call into the academy and report to reception, who may arrange for a member of staff to speak with you.



#### 7.2. Safeguarding

- 7.2.1. To ensure that a child is safe and well, and to understand the reason for absence so that it can be recorded with the correct code on the register, any unexplained absences will be followed up immediately.
- 7.2.2. The senior leader with responsibility for attendance, liaising with the DSL, will ensure that children who are vulnerable are prioritised for contact. A written risk assessment will be put in place to determine the type and frequency of safe and well checks that are needed and actions to be taken including referrals to Multi Agency Support Hub (MASH) and the police if required.
- Therefore, if your child is absent we will:
- Telephone, text or email you by 10am on the first day if we have not heard from you with a reason for your child's absence. We may need to speak to your child to ascertain that they are safe and well.
- Follow up with a text message to any parents/carers whom the academy are unable to contact via telephone by 12pm.
- Visit the home on the same day if there is continued lack of contact, to carry out a safe and well check on the child
- 7.2.4 We may contact the police and/ or local authority staff to assist with safe and well checks, particularly if there are additional safeguarding or welfare concerns.

#### Following up

- Invite you in to discuss the situation with our Attendance Officer and/or Pastoral Leaders/ Assistant Principal if absences persist.
- Refer the matter to Paula Robbins EWO if attendance moves below 90%.

#### 7.3. Leave in Term Time

- 7.3.1. There is no entitlement in law for any leave of absence from the academy in term time.
- 7.3.2. Taking leave in term time will affect your child's education as much as any other absence and we expect parents to help us by not taking children away in term time.
- 7.3.3. We require parents to observe the term times of the academy. All applications for a leave of absence must be made in advance to the principal and will only be considered if there are exceptional circumstances.



- 7.3.4. If the academy grants a leave request, we will determine the length of time that the child can be away from the academy. We do not have the discretion to authorise holidays during term time.
- 7.3.5. In making a decision, the school will consider the circumstances of each application individually, including any previous pattern of leave in term time.
- 7.3.6. Any period of leave taken without the agreement of the school, or in excess of that agreed, will be classed as unauthorised and may attract sanctions such as a penalty notice. (academy to add details of fines if appropriate)
- 7.3.7. Each request for absence under an exceptional circumstance category will be considered individually.
- 7.3.8. When making the decision the following factors may be considered:
- The amount of time requested
- The age of the child
- The child's general absence/attendance record
- Proximity to internal or external test/examinations
- Length of the proposed leave
- Child's capacity to catch up any work missed
- Childs educational needs
- General welfare of the child
- Circumstances of the request
- Purpose of the leave
- Frequency of the activity, and
- When the request was made.
- When leave of absence has been granted, the absence will be recorded as authorised, using the appropriate register symbol.

#### 7.4. Appointments

- 7.4.1. As far as possible, medical and dental appointments should be made outside of the academy day. Where this is not possible, a note and appointment card should be sent to the academy prior to the appointment.
- 7.4.2. Children must attend the academy before and after the appointment wherever possible. If the appointment requires the child to leave during the day, they must follow the academy's signing out procedure.
- 7.4.3. Should a child arrive late to the academy, following an appointment, they should report to main reception where they will be asked to sign in via the Academy's inventory system



#### 7.5. Religious or cultural observance

7.5.1. Parents must inform the academy in advance if absences are required for days of religious observance. The academy will authorise absences where a reasonable request is made. Parents should inform the academy PRIOR to any absence due to religious observance.

## 8. Children Missing Education (CME)

- Children Missing Education Statutory Guidance for Local Authorities Sept 2016 <u>Stat guidance</u> template (publishing.service.gov.uk)
- 8.1. The Local Authority (LA) officers with responsibility for CME are Julie Whitehead <u>Julie.whitehead@halton.gov.uk</u>
- 8.2. For the purpose of this policy, a CME is defined as a child or young person of compulsory school age who is not attending school, not placed in alternative provision by an LA, and who is not receiving a suitable education elsewhere.
- 8.3. This definition also includes children who are receiving an education, but one that is not suitable; this could include children who are not receiving full-time education suitable to their needs, e.g., age, ability, aptitude, special educational needs and disabilities (SEND).
- 8.4. Children who go missing from education are at significant risk of underachieving, being victims of harm, exploitation or radicalisation and becoming NEET (not in education, employment or training)
- 8.5. Children who are already known to children's social care, who are on a child in need or child protection plan or in the care of the local authority are additionally vulnerable and in need of robust protection.
- 8.6. Where a child has not returned to the academy for ten days after an authorised absence or is absent from the academy without authorisation for twenty consecutive school days the child can be removed from the admission register, <u>but only</u> if the academy and the local authority have failed, after jointly making reasonable enquiries, to establish the whereabouts of the child. Records of all checks must be kept on the child's file. Taking a child off roll must be seen as a last resort.
- 8.7. This only applies if the academy does not have reasonable grounds to believe that the child is unable to attend because of sickness or unavoidable causes
- 8.8. Before removing a child from the register the academy will make reasonable enquiries, with the local authority, to ascertain the whereabouts of the child, being compliant with GDPR, which could include:
- Making contact with the parent, relatives and neighbours, using known contact details.



- Checking with agencies known to be involved with family
- Checking with the local authority and school from which child moved originally, if known
- Checking with any local authority and school to which a child may have moved
- Checking with the local authority where the child lives, if different from the academy's location
- Making home visit(s), and if appropriate, make enquiries with neighbours and relatives
- 8.9. All home visits will be risk assessed before being carried out
- 8.10. The academy will treat each case on its individual merits and use their judgement, ensuring they have taken into account all of the facts.

#### 8.11. Safeguarding

- 8.11.1. For children at risk of harm or neglect:
- 8.11.2. The DSL will ensure the academy response to identifying children missing from education supports identifying potential abuse or exploitation and also prevents them going missing in the future
- 8.11.3. The academy will follow local child protection procedures.
- 8.11.4. However, if a child is in immediate danger or at risk of harm, a referral will be made immediately to children's social care Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and the police as per the academy's safeguarding procedures.

#### 8.12. Missing children/runaways:

- 8.12.1. The local authority lead person responsible for children missing from home or care Angela Povey. Any incidents of missing from home/care should be reported via iCart
- 8.12.2. Should the academy suspect a child has gone missing/run away, the DSL will ensure the academy's child protection procedures are followed and the police and MASH are contacted.

#### 8.13. Children and young people supervised by the Youth Justice System:

- 8.13.1. LA youth offending teams are responsible for supervising children (aged 8 to 18).
- 8.13.2. Where a child is registered at the academy prior to custody, the academy will keep the place open for their return.

#### 8.14. Children of migrant families/unaccompanied minors:

8.14.1. There is an increased risk of a child missing education if they are part of a new migrant family who may not yet have settled into a fixed address or may have arrived in to an LA area without the authority becoming aware.



8.14.2. If the academy becomes aware of such families, they will notify the LA immediately

#### 8.15. Children of service personnel:

- 8.15.1. If the academy is concerned about the continuity of education for a child leaving the academy, the attendance officer will contact the Ministry of Defence: Children's Education Advisory Service (CEAS) for advice
- 8.15.2. The most effective way to contact the CEAS team is via email: <a href="mailto:DCYP-CEAS-Enquiries@mod.gov.uk">DCYP-CEAS-Enquiries@mod.gov.uk</a> CEAS helpline: 01980 618244 or 94344 8244

#### 8.16. Children of gypsy, Roma and traveller (GRT) families:

8.16.1. When a GRT child leaves the academy without naming their next destination school, the academy attendance officer will contact the LA. If necessary, the academy will consult the Steve Boyes – steve.boyes@halton.gov.uk for advice on the best strategies to ensure minimal disruption to the child's education

#### 8.17. Fixed Term and Permanent Exclusions

8.17.1. All incidents where a child is sent home due to poor behaviour, will be coded on the register as an exclusion, even if pre-agreed with a parent, i.e., children being sent home during lunch times. If an exclusion is for part of the day (including lunch-time), it will be noted as a half day exclusion. (see academy exclusion policy for details)

#### Safeguarding

- 8.17.2. Whilst a child is excluded from school, parents have a duty to ensure that their child is safe and well and appropriately supervised at home.
- 8.17.3. A child must not be present in a public place during academy hours throughout the exclusion period, unless there is reasonable justification for this. Parents may be liable to prosecution and/or receive a penalty notice from the local authority if their child is present in a public place during academy hours during the dates of the exclusion. It will be for the parent to show reasonable justification.
- 8.17.4. The principal will take account of the legal duty of care when sending a child home following an exclusion.
- 8.17.5. The academy will continue to ensure regular safe and well checks are completed. This is particularly important for additionally vulnerable children
- 8.17.6. Following a permanent exclusion, safe and well checks will be carried out until the result of any appeal is known.



## 9. Elective Home Education (EHE)

- 9.1. Elective home education is a term used to describe a choice by parents to provide education for their children at home instead of sending them to the academy full-time.
- 9.2. Whilst many home-educated children have an overwhelmingly positive learning experience this is not the case for all and can mean some children are less visible to services that are there to keep them safe and supported.
- 9.3. DfE guidance for local authorities sets out the role and responsibilities of LAs <u>Elective home</u> <u>education: departmental guidance for local authorities (publishing.service.gov.uk)</u> whilst this guidance is primarily aimed at LAs, academies, our attendance staff and those maintaining the academy registers, will make themselves familiar with it. The academy will also follow the local authority policy and protocols

#### www.3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/EducationandFamilies/Schools/SchoolAttendance.aspx

- 9.4. The decision by parents as to how to educate their child, whether at a school or at home, should be an informed, active and positive one. It is important that parents obtain sufficient information when making that decision.
- 9.5. We advise any parent who wishes to educate their child at home to discuss their decision with the academy first. Please contact Zaina Porschke (AP Student Welfare & Attendance)
- 9.6. We will ensure we:
- Respond positively and constructively;
- Take all necessary steps to resolve any issues in school that may be influencing parents' consideration of EHE;
- Signpost the parent/carer to the local EHE Team, or the School Admissions team, who will provide further advice and guidance to help the parent to make an informed choice.

#### 9.7. Decision to home educate

- 9.7.1. Parents must inform the academy in writing that they intend to educate their child at home.
- 9.7.2. Once the letter of notification, written by the parent/carer, to home educate has been received, the academy will immediately notify the local authority elective home education officer (EHEO). name and contact details of local authority EHEO here and the child's name will be removed from the academy register on receipt of the letter
- 9.7.3. The child's place at the academy will remain 'open' for 10 ten working days whilst the EHEO verifies with parents that they have made an informed choice about educating their child at home



- 9.7.4. The parent and child will be offered the opportunity to discuss their decision with the principal
- 9.7.5. We will never seek to persuade parents to educate their children at home as a way of avoiding an exclusion or because the child has a poor attendance record. In the case of exclusion, we will follow the relevant legislation and have regard to the statutory guidance.
- 9.7.6. If a child has a poor attendance record, the academy and, if appropriate, local authority will seek to address the issues behind the absenteeism and use the other remedies available to them.

#### Safeguarding

9.8. The academy will complete a risk assessment for any vulnerable children for whom a parent elects to educate at home and will work closely with safeguarding partners if they feel that a child's welfare or safety is compromised.

# 10. Children with health needs who cannot attend school

- 10.1. Children with health needs are vulnerable.
- 10.2. The academy will contact their Local Authority named officer for the education of children with additional health needs [David Purcell] when it is clear that the child will be away from school for 15 days or more, whether consecutive or cumulative due to health needs.
- 10.3. To support children with health needs who cannot attend, the academy will:
- Liaise with appropriate medical professionals to ensure minimal delay in arranging appropriate provision for the child
- Have a designated member of staff who will be responsible for the child and act as the main point
  of contact
- Liaise with the LA to monitor that the child receives full time education which is of good quality, (as defined in the statutory guidance Alternative Provision (2013)<sup>1</sup> which allows them to take appropriate qualifications, prevents them from slipping behind their peers in school and allows them to reintegrate successfully back into school as soon as possible (full time is not defined in law but should equate to what the child would normally have in school- unless it would not be in the child's best interests, e.g. in KS4 this would be 25hrs a week)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> DfE Statutory Guidance: Ensuring a good education for children who cannot attend school because of health needs January 2013 <u>Additional health needs guidance (publishing.service.gov.uk)</u>



- Liaise with any alternative provision to ensure the child is safeguarded and carry out due diligence checks
- Ensure the child has a comprehensive health care (or similar) plan which addresses medical, educational social, emotional and mental health needs, has been contributed to by the child and parents/carers
- Record discussions, decisions taken and rationale
- Ensure that cases are regularly reviewed and escalated if necessary using local escalation protocols: www.3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/EducationandFamilies/Schools/SchoolAttendance.aspx
- 10.4. Children with vulnerabilities including children with special educational needs and disabilities, looked after children and children who have or have had a social worker
- 10.5. The academy will ensure that children with additional vulnerabilities are accurately identified and have a named lead professional responsible for coordinating their holistic needs. This will include monitoring their attendance

### 11. Alternative Provision

- 11.1. All professionals have a statutory responsibility to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. The tracking and reporting of attendance at alternative provision is an essential component in achieving this. Children at alternative provision are additionally vulnerable and will be closely monitored.
- 11.2. The senior leader with responsibility for alternative provision is Gary McIntyre (AP Behaviour)
- 11.3. The arrangements for monitoring of attendance, contacting of parents and carrying out safe and well checks will form part of a written individual plan, agreed with the child, parents and alternative provider before the child begins their placement.
- 11.4. Attendance at off-site alternative provision will be monitored daily by Amy Jarvis (AP Lead)/ Rachel Campbell (Attendance Officer) who will ensure that swift action is taken when a child does not attend their alternative provision place.
- 11.5. The academy will make regular visits to the alternative provision to meet the child, their link tutor and to check on their well -being and academic progress
- 11.6. Alternative providers are required to contact the academy on the first day by 10am whenever the child is absent.
- 11.7. The senior leader with responsibility for alternative provision will ensure arrangements are in place to formally monitor, report on attendance at alternative provision to SLT on a weekly basis, liaising with the DSL, SENCo LAC coordinator or other key colleagues as necessary
- 11.8. Children whose attendance falls below the academy's target will have a plan put in place to support better attendance



11.9. There is an expectation that any safeguarding concerns are raised with the designated safeguarding lead and that all alternative providers adhere to the child protection and safeguarding policies held by the academy

#### 11.10. Part-time timetables

- 11.11.All children, regardless of their circumstances, are entitled to a full-time education which is suitable to their age, ability, aptitude and any special educational needs they may have.

  Academies have a statutory duty to provide full time education for all children
- 11.12. In very exceptional circumstances there may be a need for a temporary part-time timetable to meet a child's individual needs. For example, where a medical condition prevents a child from attending full-time education and a part-time timetable is considered as part of a re-integration package.
- 11.13.A part-time timetable will not be treated as a long-term solution. Any individual support programme or other agreement will have a time limit by which point the child is expected to attend full-time or be provided with alternative provision.
- 11.14. There will be an identified lead person with responsibility for monitoring the part -time timetable
- 11.15. Therefore, part time timetables will last no longer than 6 weeks and formal written reviews will take place at least fortnightly and will include the child, parents/carers and other professionals as appropriate.
- 11.16. In agreeing to a part-time timetable, an academy has agreed to a child being absent from the academy for part of the week or day and therefore must record it as authorised absence.

#### Safeguarding

11.17. The academy will ensure that the DSL has been consulted, a risk assessment carried out and suitably robust arrangements are in place to ensure the ongoing safeguarding of any child on a part time timetable.

## 12. Support and Intervention

- 12.1. The academy recognises that early intervention can prevent poor attendance. We monitor attendance and punctuality throughout the year. We recognise that certain groups of children may be more at risk of poor attendance and will provide support and assistance wherever possible.
- 12.2. When a child is absent for the first time the academy may consider sending out information (exemplar in appendix 1) outlining the support that is available to parents to ensure good attendance.



- 12.3. If a child's absence then drops below 95% a concerns letter (exemplar in appendix 2) will be sent inviting the parent/carer in for a meeting.
- 12.4. If no improvement is seen, parents will receive an unauthorised absence letter (exemplar in appendix 3) informing them of the decision to mark any further absences as unauthorised unless medical evidence is provided.
- 12.5. In the case of persistent absence, arrangements will be made for parents to speak to the Attendance Officer/ It may become necessary for Head of Year or Z Porschke (AP Student Welfare & Attendance) to become involved in a supportive capacity to promote improved attendance.
- 12.6. If a student's absence drops below 90%, the local authority Education Welfare Officer (EWO) will be informed. Once referred to the EWO, the EWO will attempt to resolve the situation by agreement. If the situation cannot be resolved and attendance does not improve, the EWO has the power to issue sanctions such as prosecutions or penalty notices.

#### 12.7. School Targets and Initiatives

- 12.8. The school has targets to improve attendance and everyone has an important part to play in meeting these targets. Targets for the school and for classes are displayed in the school and on the academy website.
- 12.9. We have set a whole school attendance target of 96% attendance and we will keep you updated regularly about progress to this level and how your child's attendance compares. Details of our absence levels can be found on the Academy website or are available from Rachel Campbell, Sarah Richardson or Rachel Oram (Attendance Officers)
- 12.10. Our target is to achieve better than this because we know that good attendance is the key to successful schooling
- 12.11. Information on any projects or initiatives that will focus on these areas will be provided on our Academy website and in the Academy newsletter
- 12.12.Academy leaders, governors and OAT regional directors and safeguarding manager ensure that attendance data, particularly for identified vulnerable groups is closely and regularly monitored identifying trends or patterns and assessing the impact of actions taken.

## 13. Rewards

- 13.1. The academy acknowledges 100% attendance in the following ways:
- Termly celebration assembly rewards
- Annual celebration attendance rewards



- Postcards home
- Half termly rewards, vouchers, prizes
- Praise to student and parents

Good attendance and punctuality will be rewarded in the following ways:

- Termly celebration assembly rewards
- Postcards home
- Half termly rewards, vouchers, prizes
- Praise to student and parents

## 14. Attendance Codes

The academy will use the attendance codes as published by the Department for Education <u>School</u> <u>attendance guidance (publishing.service.gov.uk)</u> and will ensure any subsequent guidance is followed



#### **EXEMPLAR First absence warning letter template**

Appendix 1

«salutation»
«address\_block»
«date\_of\_printing»

Dear «salutation»,

I am writing with reference to «chosen\_forename»'s recent absence(s) from the academy and to take this opportunity to give you some information regarding the provision we are able to make for children, should «chosen forename» feel unable to attend in the future:

If a child is feeling a little unwell in the morning, they may well improve during the day and therefore, it is usually better to send them to the academy and we can provide a quiet working area until they feel able to re-join their classes.

We also provide 'stationary' areas for children to work in, should mobility be an issue so that they do not have to move around the academy. We would also allow students to leave lessons early to avoid crowds should they have an injury.

We have a full time first aider at Ormiston Bolingbroke Academy that can assess the condition and, with your authorisation, administer medication should «chosen\_forename» feel unwell after arriving at the academy

We also have mentoring support for any children who have been absent due to sadness from a bereavement or other personal circumstances.

Heads of Year and Pastoral Managers are always willing to support children and therefore should «chosen\_forename» have any problems or issues that may prevent «him\_her» from wanting to attend, please contact (insert academy name) immediately so that these problems or issues can be resolved.

We have a strong network of staff here at Ormiston Bolingbroke Academy, and I am sure you will agree that whatever problem «chosen\_forename» may encounter, there is support available to «him\_her», to ensure regular attendance to the academy.

With kind regards,



#### **EXEMPLAR** Low attendance concerns letter template

| «salutation»         |  |
|----------------------|--|
| «address_block»      |  |
|                      |  |
| «date_of_printing»   |  |
| «forename» «surname» |  |
|                      |  |

Dear «salutation»

I am writing to advise that «forename»'s attendance is currently «percentage\_attendance»%, which is a concern to (insert academy name) as this has a great impact on «forename»'s learning.

All children should reach a minimum of 96% attendance and I look forward to receiving your co-operation in this matter. The academy will continue to monitor «forename» 's attendance closely and look forward to seeing an improvement.

For every 1 day of absence, **5 lessons are missed**, for one week's absence **25 lessons are missed**. This is time that cannot be given back to «forename» and it may impact on any examinations «he\_she» may be entered for.

Please note that if attendance deteriorates further then the acaemy will have no alternative but to unauthorise all absences unless a doctor's note/medical note/hospital letter is provided for every absence.

Section 444 of the Education Act 1996 makes it parents/carers responsibility to ensure their child's attendance at the academy which they are on roll. Failure to do so may result in legal action being taken.

Please could you contact 01928 711643 to arrange a meeting to look at what support we can put in place to resolve any issues or concerns

Yours sincerely,



#### **EXEMPLAR** Unauthorised absence letter template

«salutation» «address block» Student - «forename» «surname» - «reg» Dear «salutation» I am writing to advise you that «forename»'s attendance is currently «percentage attendance»%. We place great importance on attendance at (insert academy name) and the link between attainment and attendance and as such we expect all of our children to reach an attendance percentage of at least 96%. I have no alternative at this time but to inform you that because of «forename»'s persistent absence, any absence «he\_she» may now have will be recorded as unauthorised and a doctor's note/medical certificate will be required to explain «his\_her» absence. For every one day of absence 5 lessons are missed, for one week's absence 25 lessons are missed. This is time that cannot be given back to «forename» and it may impact on any examinations «he she» may be entered for. I have to inform you that «forename»'s attendance is now a cause for concern and this will be reported to Halton EWO Service which could lead to further action being taken, which in more serious cases can mean court action. I am sure you will agree that in order for «forename» to receive the best education available to «him her», «he\_she» needs to be attending the academy regularly. Please contact (insert academy name) as soon as possible to discuss the matter and to find a way to work together to improve «forename»'s attendance. With kind regards,



Learning from serious case reviews

CHSCB-Local-Review-Chadrack-Report-FINAL.pdf (chscp.org.uk)

2019NottinghamshireChildKN15Overview.pdf (nspcc.org.uk)